
CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – JANUARY 16, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on January 16, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the Multipurpose Room 
#CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 525, Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
Joe Costantino, Commissioner  
Michael Keller, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 
Gwen Walraven, Commissioner 
Gary Beach, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director of Development Services 
Chris Shacklett, Asst. Director of Development Svcs. – Planning 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff regarding staff 
reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of December 19, 2023.

Motion: Commissioner Southard made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. Seconded 
by Commissioner Roberts. Motion passed 6-0. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

2. Zoning File 23-15 PD Planned Development – Another Time & Place: Consider and act on a request
to rezone approximately 1.04 acres located at the northeast corner of Abrams Road and E. Buckingham
Road, from ‘R’ Retail to PD Planned Development for the LR-M(1) Local Retail District with amended
development standards and a concept plan to accommodate a patio cover for a restaurant and smoking
establishment. Property Owner: Mehmet Shon Celik, MDA Texas LLC. Staff: Chris Shacklett.

Mr. Shacklett stated this is a request to rezone approximately 1.04 acres from ‘R’ Retail to PD Planned
Development for the LR-M(1) Local Retail District with amended development standards and a concept
plan to accommodate a patio cover for a restaurant and smoking establishment. The applicant is only
requesting one (1) amendment to the development standards of the LR-M(1) Local Retail District,
which is a reduction in the building setback for a patio cover along Buckingham Road.

Mr. Shacklett stated the property is located at the northeast corner of Buckingham Road and Abrams
Road and was originally developed in 1989 as a convenience store. In 2017 it was converted to a
restaurant, and in 2021, it was purchased with the intent of opening a restaurant and smoking
establishment. In 2022, a Special Permit for a smoking establishment in conjunction with a restaurant
was approved with a limitation that the smoking establishment use would be limited to the patio located
on the west side of the building.

Mr. Shacklett further stated that the current ‘R’ Retail zoning designation and the proposed LR-M(1)
Local Retail District require a 40-foot building setback along Abrams Road and Buckingham Road.

APPROVED



 
 2 
 

The southern portion of the patio cover would align with the existing building line along Buckingham 
Road which encroaches into the required setback and is located within three (3) feet of the property line 
along Buckingham Road. 
 
Mr. Shacklett explained that at the time the site was developed in 1989, the building did not encroach 
into the setback as Buckingham Road did not exist east of Abrams Road. The originally planned 
alignment of Buckingham Road was intended to be further south. In 1994, right-of-way was dedicated 
along the south side of the subject property to accommodate the current Buckingham Road alignment, 
thereby creating a non-conforming building with respect to the 40-foot building setback along 
Buckingham Road. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated that the proposed patio cover is approximately 14-feet-tall and is constructed of 
non-combustible materials, including a steel support structure with fixed louver panels and a low-
pitched polycarbonate roof system that utilizes translucent frosted plexiglass. The current plan does not 
propose an enclosed patio; however, the applicant may provide heating and cooling options for the 
patio, which are allowed in accordance with Building and Fire Code requirements. In the future, should 
the applicant decide to enclose the patio, a sprinkler system would need to be installed. 
 
Mr. Shacklett concluded with a summary of the request and conditions to be included if the Commission 
recommended approval. Mr. Shacklett further stated that four (4) letters were received in favor of the 
request. Mr. Shacklett stated he was available to answer any questions. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if staff had a way to distinguish the storage building located on the property. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the plans show the unused storage building with a hatch pattern. 
 
With no further questions of the staff, Chairman Marsh invited the applicant forward to present the 
request. 
 
Mr. Ed Rawls, Rawls Culver Architects, LP, 901 N. MacDonald St, Suite 203, McKinney, TX, came 
forward to present the applicant’s request. He stated that he was the architect for the project and 
explained the construction and intent of the patio cover. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked Mr. Rawls to explain the purpose of the louvers. 
 
Mr. Rawls indicated that the louvers were part of the original planned enclose patio cover system and 
would be used to ventilate smoke from the patio area. He confirmed weather protection would be 
located below the louvers. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there was any change to the flooring. 
 
Mr. Rawls stated that there were no changes to the flooring and asked Mr. Mehmet Shon Celik to join 
him at the podium. 
 
Mr. Mehmet Shon Celik, 5514 Bentgreen Drive, Dallas, TX confirmed there were no changes to the 
flooring. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the front door entry was through the northern patio. 
 
Mr. Celik advised that the primary entry into the restaurant would be through the northern patio. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the applicant were to put in side panels, would it change the structure 
that they were requesting. 
 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 

Mr. Rawls confirmed that if they put in any type of drop system it would be on the new structure and 
be supported by the new structure. 
 
Chairman Purdy asked if the patio cover’s primary purpose was for smoking or to protect customers 
from weather. 
 
Mr. Celik stated the primary purpose was for weather protection for those dining or smoking on the 
patio. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant how business has been since re-opening. 
 
Mr. Celik stated that the business was good since remodel and re-opening even though they could not 
serve alcohol or have music or entertainment. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the customers could bring their own alcoholic beverages. 
 
Mr. Celik answered that was not allowed at the current time. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if applicant had any concerns about his restaurant building being an existing-
non-conforming structure and that the proposed request only applied to the patio cover and not the 
existing building. 
 
Mr. Shacklett confirmed the structure was existing non-conforming. 
 
Mr. Celik stated there were no concerns because they were not making any changes to the building, 
and they were only before the Commission to get approval on the patio cover. 
 
Mr. Rawls stated the owner would prefer to have the reduced setback apply to the building so that it 
would not be considered non-conforming. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there would be any objection to including the building as part of this request 
or at least a recommendation to the Council to consider it as part of the concept plan. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated discussion regarding the new setback to apply to the existing building would be 
on the record, and staff would need to verify that the notice was sufficient to allow that change. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated his concern was that if the restaurant were destroyed by some casualty, it could 
not be rebuilt as it is now. Only the patio cover would be allowed to be rebuilt if it were damaged. 
 
Mr. Celik commented his intent would be to allow the restaurant to be rebuilt in its current location if 
it were destroyed. 
 
Mr. Rawls asked if that change to the request would be allowed. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated staff would look into if the change could be made. 
 
Chairman Constantino stated that if the building were destroyed, the owner would have to go back 
through the zoning process to allow the building to be rebuilt in its current location if it was not 
expressly allowed as part of this request. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated that was correct. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any further questions for the applicant or if there was anyone who 
wanted to speak in favor or opposition to the request. 

APPROVED



 
 4 
 

 
Ms. D’Nelle Lyons, 523 Stillmeadow Drive, Richardson, TX came forward to speak in favor of the 
request. 
 
With no further speakers, Chairman Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner 
Roberts seconded the motion. Motion passed 6-0. 
 
Commissioner Roberts suggested the City see if the building could be added to the request. 
 
Chairman Marsh agreed and elaborated on why he believed it should be added to the request. 
 
Mr. Sam Chavez stated they can go forward with a recommendation as presented with an additional 
item for Council to consider which is to apply a 3-foot setback to the building. The other option would 
be for the applicant to withdraw the case allowing the City to readvertise with the specifics of including 
the building in the request. If we move forward with the additional item added to the recommendation, 
staff will have to consult with the City Attorney to see if it is possible. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated that it would not be feasible for the applicant to withdraw the request and start 
over. He stated that the CPC should recommend approval as presented and ask staff to consult with the 
City Attorney regarding whether the notice was sufficient to allow the building to be included in the 
request. 
 
Mr. Chavez advised there was adequate time to send out a notice for the February 6, 2024, CPC 
meeting, which would tentatively place the case on a February 26, 2024 Council meeting. 
 
Mr. Shacklett advised that the request could be recommended for approval and the applicant can come 
back in the future to make the additional request to include the restaurant in the zoning request. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the applicant agreed with Mr. Shacklett. 
 
 
Mr. Rawls asked for further clarification regarding the options. 
 
Mr. Shacklett explained the options to come back later for a future zoning request. 
 
Mr. Celik said he wanted to move forward with the request as presented. 
 
Mr. Shacklett reiterated that staff would consult with the City Attorney regarding if the building could 
be considered as part of the request if the Commission made an approval recommendation. He stated 
the non-conforming status only became an issue if the building were destroyed. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if many buildings in the City are non-conforming similar to the subject 
building. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated it is not atypical. He stated staff was trying to make it clear that the only proposed 
change was related to the addition of the patio cover. 
 

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to recommend approval of the request as 
presented. Commissioner Roberts seconded the motion. Motion passed 6-0. 

 
3. Zoning File 23-17 PD Planned Development – Trellis Richardson: Consider and act on a request 

for approval of an amendment to a PD Planned Development for a 5.2-acre lot located at 2301 N. 
Central Expressway, on the north side of Fall Creek Drive, between Central Expressway and Collins 
Boulevard to only modify the minimum unit size for a 131-unit apartment development. This request 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 

does not include an increase in the number of allowed units. Property Owner: Evan Gallant, 2301 N 
Central Owner LLC. Staff: Chris Shacklett 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated this is a request for approval of an amendment to a PD Planned Development for 
a 5.2-acre property located on the north side of Fall Creek Drive, between Central Expressway and 
Collins Boulevard to only modify the minimum unit size for studios and 1-bedroom units for the 131-
unit apartment development. 
 
Mr. Shacklett explained that the site was developed in 1996 as a hotel with 131 rooms within four (4) 
buildings and a fifth building used as a clubhouse for the hotel. 
 
Mr. Shacklett further stated that in 2022 the applicant requested to rezone the property to a PD Planned 
Development to allow for repurposing of the 131 hotel rooms into a 131-unit apartment development. 
The zoning was approved by City Council in February 2023 and included a concept plan. At the time 
of approval, the applicant had not yet purchased the property, and access to the units was limited and 
detailed as-builts plans were not available, so applicant had to utilize approximate building area 
estimates. Based on the estimates, the applicant proposed a condition limiting the minimum unit size 
to 450 square feet for studio units and 500 square feet for 1-bedroom units. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated that the applicant finalized the purchase of the property in April 2023 and submitted 
for building permit approval in July 2023. At that time, staff informed the applicant that the minimum 
unit areas did not meet the required minimum unit area. Staff requested the applicant to remeasure the 
units to ensure that their measurements were accurate. The applicant remeasured and confirmed that 
several units did not meet the minimum unit sizes as required in the PD and found that there was 
variance in the area between the same unit types. Therefore, the applicant is requesting to reduce the 
minimum unit sizes. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the applicant’s request is to amend the PD to reduce the minimum unit size to 350 
square feet for studio units and 400 square feet for 1-bedroom units. There are no other changes being 
proposed to the PD. If the Commission recommended approval, the only modification would be to 
Section 4(a) of Ordinance 4449 which is the section regarding minimum unit sizes. 
 
Mr. Shacklett confirmed that staff received one (1) letter in support with an attachment of the person’s 
letter in support when the case was originally approved last year. Mr. Shacklett asked if there were any 
questions from the Commission. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked what would be their alternative if the request is not approved. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the alternative would be to reconfigure those rooms to meet the current approved 
minimum sizes which would result in a loss of units. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the alternative had been studied. 
 
Mr. Shacklett responded he did not know if they had studied that alternative. 
 
Mr. Chavez advised that in addition to moving walls, the plumbing and electrical would also have to 
be moved. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if any other similar zoning requests include minimum unit sizes and what 
is typically required. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated that there were no specific requirement, but recent approvals had required a 
minimum area of 500 square feet while older developments may have required a minimum of 700 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 

square feet. The intent of this project was to provide smaller units that are more affordable. This PD 
prohibits anything larger than a 1-bedroom unit with the intent of providing smaller units that would 
be available to a wider range of renters. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated this project represents the first repurposing of a hotel, so there were some unknowns. 
The intent was always to convert one (1) hotel room to one (1) apartment unit.  
 
Commissioner Keller asked if minimum unit size requirements had always been a condition contained 
in a PD for apartment developments. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated it is typical to include minimum unit size requirements in these types of zoning 
requests; however, it is not required to include minimum unit size as a condition. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if these units would be comparable to some of the student housing that 
is located on Waterview Parkway. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated on-campus housing (dormitories) that is limited to students is not subject to City 
zoning and development regulations. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard stated it does not appear the developer is trying to change the intent of what 
was originally approved. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated the intent remains unchanged. 
 
With no further questions of staff, Chairman Marsh invited the applicant to come forward. 
 
Suzan Kedron, Jackson Walker, 2323 Ross Avenue, Dallas, TX came forward to speak on behalf of the 
applicant. She stated they are prepared to move forward and that she is available questions. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked staff if the PD currently limits the project to 131-units. 
 
Mr. Shacklett answered yes. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked what the implication would be if the minimum unit size requirement were 
removed. 
 
Mr. Shacklett stated it would allow the developer to reduce the number of units and create larger units, 
but they would still be limited to studio or 1-bedroom units, so there would likely be no incentive for 
the developer to do so. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the buildings could be expanded or if another could be constructed. 
 
Mr. Shacklett responded they could not since the concept plan would prohibit any expansion or 
additional building construction. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked Ms. Kedron if she had any thoughts regarding the removal of minimum unit 
sizes. 
 
Ms. Kedron stated it would not be feasible to reduce the number of units, but she would not be opposed 
to the removal of the minimum unit size requirement. 
 
With no further questions, Commissioner Constantino made a motion to close the public hearing. Vice 
Chairman Southard seconded the motion. Motion passes 6-0. 
 

APPROVED



 
 7 
 

Commissioner Costantino stated this is just an amendment to reflect what was originally proposed. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard stated there was no need to change the minimum unit size since the applicant 
agreed with the proposed minimums. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated he agreed their intent remained unchanged and they should be allowed to move 
forward with their project. He was pleased to see the open space area on the south side of Fall Creek 
Drive was moving forward as well. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Roberts made a motion to recommend approval of the request as 
presented. Commissioner Keller seconded the motion. Motion passed 6-0. 

 
ADJOURN 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular business 
meeting at 8:06 p.m. 
 
 
 
       
Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
 

APPROVED




